2007 - CA-01737

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel certifies that Mr. Floyd Marshall, 5122 Keele Street, Jackson, Mississippi; 39206, and Hon. Sorie S. Tarawally, counsel for appellant, have an interest in the outcome of this case. This representation is made in order that the judges of this Court may evaluate for possible disqualifications and or recusal.

Sorie S. Tarawally, Esq.; MSB

sopies/anawally

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Floyd Marshall, Plaintiff below and Appellant before this Court initiated an action for specific performance of a certain option contract to purchase property leased by him from the Defendant Appellee by filing an action in the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. The court below after taking testimony and evidence ordered specific performance of the contract of sale of the property. The Court in addition to its order for specif performance ordered that the payments made by Mr. Marshall after the exercise of the option but before a delayed closing be applied as rent under the lease. Appellant feeling aggrieved by the portions of the Chancellor's order that failed to credit him for payments made after the exercise of the option towards the purchase price agreed upon in the option, files this appeal to this Court and the case is now ripe for review.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

THE TRIAL COURT IS CORRECT IN DECREEING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO CREDIT MARSHALL FOR ALL

PERIODIC PAYMENTS MADE TO LANDLORD'S AGENT AFTER THE EXERCISE OF

THE OPTION ON OR BEFORE JANUARY 31, 2005.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ORDERING ANY ATTORNEYS FEES FOR THE DEFENDANT APPELLEE'S LAWYERS

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ORDER ATTORNEY'S FEES ON BEHALF OF MARSHALL.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

FACTS

This case in a nutshell can be summarized thus: In September, 2004, Floyd Marshall entered into a three year lease agreement with Carolyn Lindsly on a piece of property located at 558 West Northside Drive, Jackson, Mississippi. The lease contained an option to purchase within the lease period. The option provides that if Marshall exercises the option prior to October 1, 2005, the purchase price shall be one hundred and twenty-five thousand dollars (\$125,000.00). If he elects to exercise his option on or after October 1, 2005 until the expiration of the lease, his purchase price shall be one hundred and thirty-five thousand dollars (\$135,000,00). The option further provided that should Marshall exercise his option before January 31, 2005, all his rental payments since the inception of the lease will be credited towards the purchase price. Should he, however, exercise his option on or after February 1, 2005, only half of his monthly rental payments shall be credited towards the purchase price. Other conditions and terms relating to purchase price and financing were provided for and outlined in the option. See Exhibit 1, page 8.and Exhibit 2. We further note that the option did state that " the closing date and closing will be within thirty (30) days of receiving purchaser's letter to purchase "

Mr. Floyd Marshall exercised his option via letter dated January 10, 2005 which letter was received by landlord's agent before January 31, 2005. Exhibit 3. The agent presented to Marshall a Commercial Property Contract on February 16th, 2005 at which date Marshall executed same and further tendered his earnest money tender in the amount of two thousand

dollars (\$2000.00). See Exhibit 5.. We are told seller executed the Commercial Sales Contract on the 18th February, 2005. Another month or so was to elapsed before agent engaged closing attorney to handle the closing. TT at 65 and 77, ln. 3 to 9.. Another four or five weeks elapsed before a closing was scheduled for April 15, 2005. TT at 66. Mr. Marshall was unavailable for that day and he promptly noticed closing attorney via e-mail of his unavailability and also of the fact he has not been provided with copies of the closing documents for his review.

When the documents were provided, the discrepancy as to the amount due at closing due to the credits was noticed and the parties never could agree and no further closing was ever scheduled. TT 77, ln 10 to 28. Meanwhile, Marshall continued his occupancy of the premises and made periodic payments. The back and forth discussions was largely recorded in e-mails exchanged between Marshall and the agent for landlord, Joe Dove. This counsel at the behest of Marshall intervened and attempted to resolve the dispute and effect the closing, when this cannot be done, suit was filed to enforce the sale. See Exhibits 28, 29 and 30. The facts are more revealing as contained in the exhibits which counsel will attempt to outline below.

Ms. Lindsly and her husband had owned and operated a hardware store at 558 West

Northside Drive, Jackson, Mississippi. She continued to operate the store after her husband's

death. Sometime in 2005, she decided to sell the property and engaged the services of Cook

Commercial Properties as her brokers for the sale of the property. Joe Dove is a commercial real

estate agent at Cook Commercial Properties and he was the Cook agent personally handling the

Lindsly matter. TT 136

Mr. Marshall is a contractor/property management consultant. During the course of his construction business, he occasionally shopped at the Lindsly Hardware store and had developed

a relationship with the Lindslys. Through Ms. Lindsly, he became aware of her desire to sell the property. Mr. Marshall expressed his interest to buy the property. She in turn gave him Mr. Dove's telephone number and Mr. Dove the Marshall phone number. This exchange of numbers brought Mr. Marshall and Joe Dove together which led to discussions and negotiations on the sale of the property.

In contemplation of a future sale, and on September 7th, 2004, Floyd Marshall and Carolyn Lindsly executed a Lease Agreement, hereinafter the Lease. Exhibit # 1. As testified to by Mr. Dove, Ms. Lindsly's agent, he drafted the lease by modifying and inserting appropriate language when necessary from a form lease in his form bank. Consistent with the contemplation of the parties and the negotiations and discussions that preceded the signing of the Lease, the Lease contained an Option Clause, Exhibit #2.

The Option Clause provides:

- (a) This agreement provides an option for Tenant to purchase the property per the legal description attached as Exhibit "A" prior to October 1, 2005 for the sum of one hundred and twenty-five thousand and No/100 Dollars (\$125,000.00), or for the sum of one hundred and thirty-five Thousand and No/100 Dollars (\$135,000.00) on or after October 1, 2005 and prior to the expiration of the initial lease on September 30, 2007.
- (b) Should Tenant elect to purchase the property by January 31, 2005, Landlord will apply first quarterly lease payment of Five Thousand Two Hundred and fifty & No/100 (\$5250.00) to purchase price of the property. Should Tenant elect to purchase the property on or after February 1, 2005 and during the term of the initial Lease, Landlord will apply one-half of all monthly payments. Or eight Hundred and Seventy-five and No/100 (\$875.00) per month, to the purchase price of the property.
- With acceptable down Payment, Landlord agrees to finance \$100,000 of sale price of property for five years at a rate not to exceed six percent (6%) amortized over fifteen (15) years. The remaining balance will be due at the end of five (5) years. There shall be no penalty for pre-payment of all or part of principle at any during this term.
- (d) Landlord, as Seller, will agree to pay Attorney's fee for warranty Deed and

- Certificate of Title. Tenant, as Buyer, will pay for Appraisal, Survey, Loan Costs and other closing costs as necessary.
- (e) Tenant will notify Landlord in writing of his intention to exercise the option to purchase, Land lord will provide Purchaser with a clear title and a warranty deed of the property, property taxes will be prorated as of the closing date and closing will be within thirty (30) days of receiving purchaser's letter of intent to purchase.

On January 10, 2005, Mr. Marshall wrote a letter to Mr. Joe Dove, as a follow up on their conversation of January 5 and confirming his intent to purchase the property located a 558 West Northside Avenue, Jackson, Mississippi. Exhibit #3. In the language of his letter of intent dated January 10, 2005 and in pertinent parts, he writes: This letter is to respond to you concerning my intent to purchase property at 558 west northside dr. Please accept this letter as my notice of intent to purchase the above mention property. We need to set up arrangements to do all the legal work and also a closing date. I am sending you January lease amount also need to determine the best way to handle any other payments until completion. (Exhibit 3). Mr. Dove acknowledged receiving this letter. TT 100

In spite of the provision in the Option Clause that "... closing will be within thirty (30) days of receiving purchaser's letter of intent to purchase.", Joe Dove did not have ready any closing documents within the thirty (30) day window provided for closing. Instead, on or about February 16, 2005, Joe Dove prepared and presented a Commercial Sales Contract to Mr. Marshall and Ms. Lindsly for their signatures. Mr. Marshall signed it on the 16th we are told at trial that Ms. Lindsly signed a few days later. This was six weeks (42 days) from the date of the letter of intent to purchase. Exhibit #4. The closing of this transaction, according to testimony viewed most favorable to Ms. Lindsly, was not attempted until about three and half months later, a period of over one hundred (100) days from the date of his election to purchase and letter to Joe

Dove exercising his option.

Throughout this period, and even without a response to his inquiry in his letter exercising his option, viz "...I am sending you January lease amount also need to determine the best way to handle any other payments until completion," Mr. Marshall continued to make payments, believing that he was paying towards the purchase price. Consistent with this belief is the testimony of Mr. McClemore, the real estate attorney hired by Buyer to handle the transaction. He stated under oath and as a matter of law, Real Estate law that is, and he opined that the Sales Contract voided the Lease Agreement. TT 70, ln. 3 to 9; TT 79, ln. 21 and 22. Also consistent is the language of the Sales Contract; Paragraph numbered 16, AGREEMENT OF PARTIES: This contract incorporates all prior agreements between the parties, contains the entire and final agreement of the parties, and cannot be changed except by their written consent. The Lease, according to the testimony of McClemore, was as from February 16th or 18th, voided and of no effect after the signing of the Contract for Sale except the option clause which is specifically referred to and saved in number 2 of the Sales Contract: PRICE: The purchase price of the property is \$125,000 payable as follows: Seller to finance \$100.000 according to terms of Lease with Option to Purchase Agreement. Exhibit 4, section 2. The Commercial Sales Contract did not contemplate a landlord tenant relationship and as such did not provide for rent between the contracting parties.

Specific Performance, we are told in the Contract of Sales, is the essence of the contract. Exhibit # 4, 11. Mr. Marshall even with the delays not caused by him or his agents but by the Seller and her agents, still wanted the property. On April 5, 2005, he wrote a letter to Mr. Dove inquiring about "progress of us finishing our agreement." Exhibit # 6. Joe Dove at this time was

out of the country and Bill Cook responded for him to Floyd Marshall. Exhibit #7.

On April 14th, and via e-mail from mclemore@bellsouth.net, Don McClemore informed Floyd Marshall that "*** The closing is set for 2:00 Pm Friday the 15th. You will need to bring a certified check in the amount of \$15,450.33. IT WOULD BE ADVISABLE TO BRING ANOTHER PERSONAL CHECK IN CASE THE FIGURE CHANGES... I have attached a copy of the closing statement. If you cannot open it, call me, and I will fax you a copy.

Mr. Marshall responded via e-mail dated 2005/04/15 Fri AM 03:30:18 EDT as follows: Thank you for your mail message concerning the Lindsly closing. However a 2:00 Friday closing is a negative. If you would please fax me a copy of the closing statement to 601-366-1151 whereby I can view the statement and together we can set a closing good for all parties. Thanks. This response we note here was sent at 3:00 a.m. on Friday, April 15th. TT 83

At 9:20 a.m. on Friday, April 15th, 2005, Don McClemore sent via e-mail the following: Mr. Marshall, I am faxing the revised closing statement. Note that the amount of money you need to bring to closing has been changed to \$16, 452.23, due to the addition of taxes for the period of the lease [line 100]. Please coordinate with Bill Cook and me a new time for closing ASAP. Exhibit #8. TT 84. The court below erred grievously in its calculation of the time sequence. In it opinion, it seem to ignore the fact that Marshall not appearing for closing at 2:00 p.m. on the 15th April was already agreed upon by McClemore and Marshall through earlier e-mails exchanged by the two.

In spite of this apparent knowledge and agreement among Marshall, McClemore, and Bill Cook for Joe Dove who was out of the country, that the closing was not going to take place on the 15th, Don McClemore had Ms. Lindsly execute documents that afternoon. Much is made

during the trial that Mr. Marshall was a no show for the purported closing of the 15th. We note, emphasize and point out here that at 9:20 that morning McClemore acknowledged that the closing will not proceed and informed Marshall to coordinate a new date with him and Bill Cook. TT 84, ln. 2 to 13. We must further note here that on the 14th, when Marshall was informed of the closing, the problem was not even the figures because he had not seen any closing documents. The problem was timing and that was why he said outrightly that it was a negative. (Marshall's in his e-mail.) TT 83, ln 13 to end. The issue of the credits first arose in his e-mail of April 19th; in that e-mail, he first raised the issue of the amount because of disagreements on the credits. Exhibits 8 and 23 and TT 85, ln. 25 to end and TT 86, 1 to 22.

Joe Dove returned to the country and his office on or around April 26, 2005. He e-mailed Mr. Marshall: I understand there were some problems that came up with closing on the property at 558 W. Northside Drive while I was out of the country. I am back in the office now, and ready to work with you to resolve any questions or differences. Please give me a call as soon as possible. Exhibit #10. Mr. Marshall promptly replied: Thank you for your reply, Please take a look at the information complied by the attorney and fax me a revised copy or give me a good time to meet with you to go over the differences. Exhibit #11, page 1 of 2. Other e-mail messages discussed and agreed upon a time both will meet and they met but were not able to resolve the differences. The contentions between the parties is in Mr Marshall's letter of intent to Joe Dove, "need to determine the best way to handle any other payments until completion." Marshall contends that when he timely exercised his option to purchase, the lease ceases and his payments hence should be credited towards the purchase of the property, payments that would have been negligible to none had the closing been effected within thirty days of his election. It was three

month's later and he was required to pay for delays not caused by him or his agent.

Joe Dove in his e-mail to Mr. Marshall states: *** Re: the question on applying rental payments to the purchase price, Don (McClemore) says your letter prior to Jan. 31 was an "intention" to buy, the contract is when you "agree" to buy. According to real estate law, he says, there is no deal or agreement without a signed contract with specific terms spelled out. That means that the amount of rent Carolyn should apply to the sale price is one-half of the monthly payments since you started, or Oct, 2004 to now. Exhibit # 11 at 4th page 2 of 4.

The foregoing interpretation by McClemore through Joe Dove is contrary to the parties clear intent and contract. Exhibit # 2, Option Clause states in pertinent parts:

- (a) This agreement provides an option for Tenant to purchase the property per the legal description attached as Exhibit "A" prior to October 1, 2005 for the sum of one hundred and twenty-five thousand and No/100 Dollars (\$125,000.00), or for the sum of one hundred and thirty-five Thousand and No/100 Dollars (\$135,000.00) on or after October 1, 2005 and prior to the expiration the initial lease on September 30, 2007.
- (b) Should Tenant elect to purchase the property by January 31, 2005, Landlord will apply first quarterly lease payment of Five Thousand Two Hundred and fifty & No/100 (\$5250.00) to purchase price of the property. Should Tenant elect to purchase the property on or after February 1, 2005 and during the term of the initial Lease, Landlord will apply one-half of all monthly payments. Or eight Hundred and Seventy-five and No/100 (\$875.00) per month, to the purchase price of the property
- (e) Tenant will notify Landlord in writing of his intention to exercise the option to purchase, Land lord will provide Purchaser with a clear title and a warranty deed of the property, property taxes will be prorated as of the closing date and closing will be within thirty (30) days of receiving purchaser's letter of intent to purchase.

The flurry of e-mails continued between Mr. Marshall and Joe Dove. Exhibit # 12 up until September of 2005. Mr. Marshall made an offer on or before May 17, 2005 to close by June 15th, 2005. Exhibit # 15. According to his testimony, he offered to make a down payment at that time of two thousand dollars (\$2000.00) above what he believes he should pay for a total

of ten grand instead of eight if they can close by June 15. According to the testimony of all witnesses, no closing was ever scheduled. Floyd Marshall continued to make periodic payments on the building he wants to purchase and he believes he is purchasing if only all the parties can get together and resolve the differences. According to Ms. Lindsly, Floyd will occasionally stopped by her job and assure her that he is still interested and will not abandon the transaction. Since September 2004, Mr. Marshall has made total payments of fifty thousand, one hundred and twenty-five dollars (\$50,125.00) to Cook Commercial Properties for Ms. Carolyn Lindsly. Exhibit # 13. Counsel for Mr. Marshall, at the time of the trial, are holding in escrow the amount of five thousand two hundred and fifty dollars (\$5250.00). Exhibit # 30. Letter to Joe Dove from counsel for Marshall.

Exhibit # 14, for identification is disputed by Marshall as not reflecting his correct credits. Exhibit # 15 is the *mea culpa* by Joe Dove. Here, he is attempting to advise Mr. Marshall on the terms of the contract and what it says. Exhibits #s 16, 17, 18, 25 and 26, were generated after the onset of this litigation to create a record or evidence by counsel for Ms. Lindsly. These are all letters written by Ms. Lindsly trial attorney after notice by counsel for Mr. Marshall that he will initiate suit for specific performance.

2005 was the year of the e-mails between Joe Dove and Mr. Marshall. In May 2006, Marshall contacted this attorney concerning the stalled purchase transaction. The undersigned counsel called and wrote a letter to Joe Dove dated June 8, 2006. This is the only letter acknowledged by Ms. Lindsly as she having received or is aware of. Exhibit # 28. Joe Dove and this counsel did discuss the matter but was not resolved. On August 25, 2006, counsel again wrote a follow up letter to Joe Dove. Exhibit # 29. Joe Dove responded and advised counsel that

because of Ms. Lindsly's mother's health, it has not been easy getting her as she travels frequently to Memphis. He will however get back with counsel immediately after he would have discussed the matter with Ms. Lindsly. Meanwhile, Mr. Marshall continues to make periodic payments. On January 10, 2007, counsel for Marshall wrote his final letter to Joe Dove and informed him of the pendency of the suit. See Exhibit # 30. Joe Dove responded by leaving a message on counsel's answering machine and upon him being called back, he expressed his displeasure with counsel's letter or the threat to sue contained in said letter. I told him it is not a threat as I will file suit as Mr. Marshall wants finality to this odyssey of a transaction. On February 13, 2007, we filed the present action and served the defendant on or before February 16th, 2007.

Ms. Lindsly initiated an action for eviction, unpaid rents and other relief in County Court after this suit but that action was dismissed by county judge based on the principle of priority of action.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A lessee who has be given a purchase option can normally seek specific performance of the option. Since specific performance is an equitable remedy, the lessee must show that there is no adequate remedy at law. Damages, the normal legal remedy for breach of contract, are generally considered an inadequate remedy where the lessee actually desires conveyance of the property subject to the option as is the case in the case under review. Furthermore, the parties by specific provision in their contract elected specific performance as the remedy.

Once an option to purchase leased property is exercised, title of party exercising option, i.e. the lessee, relates back to the time option was originally given and upon the exercise of the option, the parties legal relationship changes from lessor and lessee to vendor and vendee.

The option to purchase contained in lease, when accepted and exercised according to its terms, becomes present contract for sale of property and the lease agreement is extinguished, thereby transforming parties relationship from lessor-lessee to vendor-vendee. These are elemental truths and principles of law applicable in this instance.

We therefore urge this Court to hold that Marshall exercised his option to purchase timely; that the option is clearly enforceable by a decree of specific performance; that the delay in closing is not occasioned by any fault of Marshall; that upon the execution of the Commercial Sales Contract, the Lease Agreement is abrogated; that the Commercial Sales Contract provides for the payment of the prevailing party's attorney's fees and that Mr. Marshall is the prevailing party in this suit.

ARGUMENTS

THE TRIAL COURT IS CORRECT IN DECREEING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

This Court in its hearing and review of this contract dispute does not write on a clean slate as our jurisprudence contains decisions and precedents to guide us. The standard of review for question concerning the construction of contracts are questions of law that are reviewed de novo by this Court. Warwick vs Gautier Utility District, 738 So 2d 212, 215 (Miss 1999); Mississippi State Highway Commission vs. Patterson Enters, Ltd., 627 So 2d 261, 263 (Miss 1993). Deeds, leases and other conveyances are construed in a manner similar to contracts. People Bank and Trust Company vs. Nettleton Fox Hunting and Fishing Association. 672 So 2d 1235 (Miss 1996). Any contract, however made or evidenced, can be discharged or modified by subsequent agreement of the parties. Anderton Vs Business Aircraft, Inc., 650 So. 2d 473, 475 (Miss 1995); Kelso vs McGowan, 604 So. 2d 726, 731 (Miss 1992). In order for such a subsequent document to effect a modification, it must meet the requirements for a valid contract. Singing River Mall vs Mark Fields, Inc., 599 So. 2d 938, 047 (Miss 1992). The contract we are asked to enforce and in the process interpret and construe is a commercial sales contract, albeit of real estate, the Commercial Property Contract. This contract, we contend, supercedes the Lease Agreement and therefore abrogates or cancels it.

The parties entered into a series of contracts in September, 2004 and February 2005 concerning a certain piece of property located and situated at 558 West Northside Drive, Jackson, Mississippi. The lease agreement provided among other provision a lease option to be exercised within a certain time frame. The evidence is clear, abundant and uncontradicted that Mr Marshall timely exercised the option.

The Commercial Property Contract was executed by Mr. Marshall on February 16, 2005 upon presentment by Mr. Dove, the broker agent for Ms. Lindsly. The initial question at this juncture is what effect does the execution of the Commercial Property Contract had on the Lease Agreement signed on September 7th, 2004 concerning the same property. We ask this Court to find and hold that the Commercial Property Contract is a binding contract entered into by Ms. Lindsly, Seller, and Mr. Marshall, Buyer. We further urge the Court to enforce the contract as written and particularly section 16, AGREEMENT OF PARTIES. If this is the case, then the only contract between the parties after February 16 or 18 when both signatures were affixed on the same document was the Commercial Sales Contract.

The Commercial Property Contract is silent on rent payments because it is obvious none were contemplated. This contract further incorporated the option to purchase clause in the Lease agreement. Section 27. Option to Purchase, Lease Agreement provides in 27. (a), (b) and (e):

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