IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01737

FLOYD MARSHALL Appellant

vs.

CAROLYN LINDSLY Appellee

APPEAL From the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLEE:

Derek L. Hall (MSR Derek L. Hall, P.A. 1764 Lelia Drive Jackson, Mississippi 39216

Tel: (601) 981-4450 Fax: (601) 981-4717 derek@dereklhallpa.com

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FLOYD MARSHALL

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01737

CAROLYN LINDSLY

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The contract entered into between the parties is clear and unambiguous. Pursuant to the terms of this contract, the Contract price was for One Hundred Twenty Five Thousand (\$125,000.00) dollars. Mr. Marshall was to pay Twenty Five Thousand (\$25,000.00) dollars as a down payment. Ms. Lindsly would owner finance One Hundred Thousand (\$100,000.00) dollars at six percent (6%) interest amortized over fifteen years with a five year balloon payment. The Chancellor correctly determined that Mr. Marshall was entitled to a credit of \$8,125.00 "(which includes the \$5,250.00, credit earnest money credit of \$2,000.00, and an additional credit of \$875.00)." (R. 236). The Chancellor also correctly ordered that "the gross amount due from Marshall is \$127,391.39, the amount to be paid by Marshall is \$119,266.93 and the total amount to be paid by Marshall at closing is \$19,266.93.

Pursuant to the very terms of this contract, Ms. Lindsly was, and is, entitled to attorney's fees, as ordered by the Chancellor.

ARGUMENT:

I. The Contract Entered into Between the Parties Is Clear and Unambiguous.

When examining a contract, a court should first examine the four corners of the contract to determine how to interpret it. McKee v. McKee, 568 So.2d 262, 266 (Miss. 1990). If the language in the contract is clear and unambiguous the intent of the contract must be effectuated. Pfisterer v. Noble, 320 So.2d 383, 384 (Miss.1975) See also Pursue Energy Corp. v. Perkins, 558 So.2d 349, 352 (Miss. 1990). Only when the intent of the parties is not clear the Court should then resort to extrinsic evidence. Perkins. 558 So.2d. at 353. "In construing a written instrument, the task of the courts is to ascertain the intent of the parties from the four corners of the instrument. Courts look at the instrument under consideration as a whole and determine what the parties intended by giving a fair consideration to the entire instrument and all words used in it. When a written instrument is clear, definite, explicit, harmonious in all its provisions, and is free from ambiguity, a court in construing it will look solely to the language used in the instrument itself. In such a case a court will give effect to all parts of the instrument as written." Pfisterer v. Noble, 320 So.2d 383, 384 (Miss. 1975) (citations omitted). It is well settled that extrinsic evidence is not admissible to create an ambiguity in a written agreement which is complete and clear on its face. See Cherry v. Anthony, Gibbs, Sage, 501 So.2d 416, 419 (Miss. 1987).

Mr. Marshall and Ms. Lindsly entered into the Commercial Property Contract on February 18, 2005. The contract was clear and unambiguous. The Contract price was for One Hundred Twenty Five Thousand (\$125,000.00) dollars. Mr. Marshall was to pay Twenty Five Thousand (\$25,000.00) dollars as a down payment. Ms. Lindsly would owner finance One Hundred Thousand (\$100,000.00) dollars at six percent (6%) interest amortized over fifteen

years with a five year balloon payment. Ms. Lindsly appeared at closing and performed her obligations under the contract. She provided clear and marketable title, signed the deed, signed the closing statement and performed her obligations. The Closing statement allocated costs and expenses correctly. Mr. Marshall disagreed and refused to close the transaction. Mrs. Lindsly had performed all of her executory obligations under the contract and availed herself of the remedy of placing Mr. Marshall under default. If a non-performing party fails to perform after removal of an impossibility, a ready and able party may seek such legal remedy as may appear appropriate in the particular case. See In Re: Estate of Picket, 879 So. 2nd 467, 471 (Miss. App. 2004).

Mr. Marshall's only real disagreement was with the "figures" in the settlement statement. Mr. Marshall refused to accept that his "numbers" were wrong. A closer look at the Settlement Statement (Exhibit 19) demonstrates clearly that Mr. Marshall was wrong. The Contracted sales price of \$125,000.00 dollars correctly reflects the amount in the contract. Under the Contract, Mr. Marshall should have brought \$25,000.00 to closing. Line 103 correctly states the amount of settlement charges to the borrower at \$611.00 (This amount is detailed on the second page of the Settlement Statement). Line 109 prorates the taxes under the contract and actually gives Mr. Marshall credit for taxes, even though he had not paid them, so this favored Mr. Marshall. In line 201 Mr. Marshall was given credit for his \$2,000.00 earnest money deposit. Line 202 correctly reflects the Principal amount of the dollars financed by Ms. Lindsly. In line 206, Mr. Marshall was given credit for his security deposit of \$875.00. Line 207 reflects a credit for six thousand one hundred and twenty five (\$6,125.00) dollars. The line states credit for one half rent. This amount was acceptable to Ms. Lindsly, but not required under the contract dated February 18, 2005. In line 208, he was credited back "unearned rent" for the remainder of April,

even though he had not paid rent for February, March or April. In line 211, county taxes were prorated to each party according to the terms of the Commercial Property Contract.

Line 220 takes into account all monies paid for by borrower, included in that amount is the \$100,000.00 loan amount, which properly reflects that amount of the transaction. The additional taxes are added back to Mr. Marshall's total and the closing costs. The total amount paid by borrow is \$110,000.00 dollars. Line 301 reflects the gross amount due from borrower at \$126,859.58. Line 302 allocates the credits due from borrower's funds, leaving the amount of \$16,452.23 due from borrower at closing. These figures were accurate as of April 15, 2005. Assuming that Mr. Marshall legitimately could not attend the closing on April 15, 2005, there was no reason to believe that Mr. Marshall should not have attended a closing of the transaction on April 18 or 19 at the latest. Mr. Marshall refused to do so. Accordingly, Ms. Lindsly asserted her rights under the contract and accepted the earnest money as liquidated damages for Mr. Marshall's default. Mr. Marshall never objected, but continued to insist on "closing the transaction" but only under his terms. Mr. Marshall cannot utilize the delay caused by himself to gain an advantage over Ms. Lindsly. "In Mississippi, equity will prevent an intolerable injustice such as where a party has gained an unconscionable advantage by mistake and the mistaken party is not grossly negligent...." Rotenberry v. Hooker, 864 So. 2d 266, 271 (Miss. 2003). Accordingly, Mr. Marshall's delay entitled Ms. Lindsly to declare him in breach of contract, accept the \$2,000.00 earnest money as liquidated damages for Mr. Marshall's breach of contract and maintain her rights under the Lease Agreement.

Mr. Marshall was required to pay all property taxes and utilities, including telephone and security system service and maintenance. Mr. Marshall has failed and/or refused to pay any portion of the property taxes since the beginning of the lease. As of the date of the trial, Mr.

Marshall had failed and/or refused to pay Four Thousand One Hundred Seventy-Seven Dollars and Fifty-Eight Cents (\$4,177.58) for the property taxes on the property since the beginning of the lease and Ms. Lindsly had to pay these costs herself.

Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, Mr. Marshall was required to provide proof of a comprehensive policy of insurance naming Carolyn Lindsly as an additional insured. Mr. Marshall has NEVER provided this proof to Ms. Lindsly.

Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, Mr. Marshall was required to pay at the beginning of each quarter the sum of five thousand two hundred and fifty (\$5,250.00) dollars.

The 4th calendar quarter installment for 2006 of Five Thousand Two Hundred Fifty

Dollars (\$5,250.00) was due any payable on October 1, 2006. Mr. Marshall did not submit any
rent for the 4th calendar quarter until December 26, 2006, at which time the Defendant only paid
the sum of \$3,250.00. Mr. Marshall has NEVER submitted any further payments to Ms. Lindsly
since that time and has been occupying Ms. Lindsly's building rent-free since before December
of 2006.

II. Mr. Marshall is Not Entitled to Credit Toward the Purchase Price for All Rent Payments Made.

Mr. Marshall has asserted throughout that he should be credited for "all payments" he made. This assertion is wholly without merit. Nowhere in the Commercial Property Contract or the Lease Agreement can such language be found. The most basic principle of contract law is that contracts must be interpreted by objective, not subjective standard. A court must effect a determination of the language used, not the ascertainment of some possible but unexpressed intent of the parties. *Simmons v. Bank*, 593 So.2d 40, 42-43 (Miss.1992) (quoting *Cherry v. Anthony, Gibbs, Sage*, 501 So.2d 416, 419 (Miss.1987)). The Simmons Court also restated that "mere disagreement about the meaning of a contract clause does not make it ambiguous as a

matter of law." Id. at 43. Mr. Marshall pointed out in his testimony and in his writings that Section 27 of the Lease Agreement gave him the right to expect that "all of his payments would be credited." This assertion is clearly wrong. Section 27 (b) of the Lease Agreement reads, as follows:

"(b) Should Tenant elect to purchase the property by January 31, 2005, Landlord will apply first quarterly lease payment of Five Thousand Two Hundred Fifty & No/100 (\$5,250.00) to purchase price of the property. Should Tenant elect to purchase the property on or after February 1, 2005 and during the term of the initial lease, Landlord will apply one half of all monthly rent payments, or Eight Hundred and Seventy Five and No/100 (\$875.00) per month, to the purchase price of the property." (Emphasis added.)

The Commercial Property Contract is silent as to credit for rent payments. Mr. Marshall clearly has misinterpreted the Lease Provision. Mr. Marshall testified that he "elected to purchase the property prior to January 31, 2005." Mr. Dove stated that the language meant that he must close prior to January 31, 2005. However, giving Mr. Marshall the benefit of all contract construction, if his "election to purchase" prior to January 31, 2005 is valid, then he would be entitled to five thousand two hundred fifty (\$5,250.00) dollars credit. Clearly, he was given credit for six thousand one hundred twenty five dollars (\$6,125.00) in the closing documents. Additionally, he was given credit for rent that he paid in February, as well. He was not entitled to any more credit than the amounts contained in the closing statement. He refused to accept that and set about a course of a three and one half year battle.

The Chancellor correctly determined that Mr. Marshall was entitled to a credit of \$8,125.00 "(which includes the \$5,250.00, credit earnest money credit of \$2,000.00, and an additional credit of \$875.00)." (R. 236). The Chancellor also correctly ordered that "the gross amount due from Marshall is \$127,391.39, the amount to be paid by Marshall is \$119,266.93 and the total amount to be paid by Marshall at closing is \$19,266.93.

III. Ms. Lindsly is entitled to Attorney's Fees.

Paragraph 15 of the Lease states that if "Tenant is in default hereunder, and the Landlord employs and/or consults with an attorney to give advice or to enforce or defend the Landlord's rights or remedies hereunder, Tenant shall pay all attorney's fees, court costs and other expenses occasioned by such Default. The Court has held that "enforcing a contract 'without enforcing the clause addressing attorney fees would be contrary to the law." *Industrial and Mechanical Contractors of Memphis, Inc. v. Tim Mote,* 962 So.2d 632, 638 (Miss.App.,2007)(quoting *Theobald v. Nosser,* 752 So.2d 1036, 1042(¶24) (Miss.1999)). As such, the Chancery Court properly ordered that if Mr. Marshall failed to comply with the Court's order by failing to close the sale on the subject property no later than September 20, 2007 he would be in default of his contractual duties and would owe unto Ms. Lindsly the sum of \$7,988.89 in attorney's fees. (R. 236-237). Since he failed to comply with the Court Order, these sums are due and owing.

CONCLUSION

For all of the above and foregoing reasons, Appellee requests that this Honorable Court affirm the decision of the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi.